IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



AUG 9 1993

		CLERK, SUPREME COURT
		By
CASE	NO.	Chief Deputy Clerk 80,923

ALFRED L. FENNIE,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR HERNANDO COUNTY FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

MICHAEL S. BECKER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 27, 1991, the grand jury in and for Hernando County returned an indictment charging Appellant with one count of first degree murder in violation of Section 782.04(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1991), one count of armed kidnapping in violation of Section 787.01(1), Florida Statutes (1991) and one count of robbery with a firearm in violation of Section 812.13(2)(a), Florida Statutes (1991). (R20-21) Appellant filed a motion to suppress his statement made to the grand jury. (R228-240) Appellant also filed a motion to suppress his statement made to the police upon his arrest. (R267-271) The state stipulated that it would not use Appellant's grand jury statement. (R247) A hearing was held on the second motion to suppress. (T891-952) Following presentation of evidence and legal argument, the trial court ruled that the statements were freely and voluntarily given and

that Appellant had never invoked either his right to remain silent or his right to an attorney. (T948-952)

Appellant filed numerous pretrial motions mainly directed to the constitutionality of the death penalty statute and also to the procedures concerning the penalty phase. (R168-169,181-183,194-198,199-212,213-214,215-220,170-173,174-177,178-180,184-187,188-190,191-193) Additionally, with the court's permission, Appellant specifically adopted the pretrial motions filed in the codefendants' cases. (R770-1022,616-617) On December 9, 1992, a hearing was held on all the pretrial motions filed in Appellant's case as well as his two codefendants' cases. (R614-718) The motions were uniformly denied with the exception of the motions requesting production of <u>Brady</u> material, and the motions for disclosure of impeaching evidence and mitigating evidence. (R622-623,632-633,633-634)

Appellant proceeded to jury trial on the charges on November 5-13, 1992, with the Honorable John W. Springstead, Circuit Judge, presiding. (T1-1926) Following deliberations, the jury returned verdicts finding Appellant guilty as charged on all counts. (T1925,R384-387) On November 13, 1992, the jury reconvened to hear the penalty phase. (T1933-2157) Appellant requested numerous special instructions during the penalty phase including expanded instructions on the aggravating circumstances of heinous, atrocious and cruel, and cold, calculated and premeditated. (T2007-2056,2021-2025,2026) The trial court denied these requested instructions ruling that the standard

instructions were sufficient. (Id.) Following deliberations, the jury returned a unanimous recommendation for death. (T2150-2151,R389)

Appellant filed a timely motion for new trial, (R424-426), which was denied. (R507,522) On December 1, 1992, Appellant appeared before Judge Springstead for sentencing. (R519-559) Judge Springstead adjudicated Appellant guilty on all counts and sentenced Appellant to death for the first degree murder count and consecutive life sentences for the remaining two counts. (R529-545,442-466) Judge Springstead filed written findings in support of the death penalty. (R452-463)

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal on December 10, 1992. (R495-496) Appellant was adjudged insolvent and the Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent him on appeal. (R502-503,504-505)

GUILT PHASE

On Sunday, September 8, 1991, Joseph Evans and his brother-in-law Bob Duckett were driving in the area of Ridge Manor in Hernando County. (T978-980) As they drove on Highway 301, north of Highway 50, they came across a woman lying on the side of the road face down. (T980) They immediately went to the Sheriff's substation and reported this. (T980) Several deputies responded to the area in Ridge Manor and located the body of a white female lying face down approximately two to three feet off the roadway. (T999,1026,1042-1043) The woman's hands were tied behind her with a white rope and her legs were crossed. (T1027, 1044) The woman was dressed in a gray T-shirt with black trim and had green army fatigue type shorts. (T1027) There were abrasions on the bottom of the woman's left foot and also on her right thigh. (T1027) The woman had a bullet wound to the back of her head. (T1027,1044) No physical evidence was found near the body. (T1031,1047,1049,1051) The body was eventually identified through fingerprint comparison and determined to be Mary Strickland Shearin. (T1086-1088)

Dr. Janet Pillow of the Medical Examiner's Office in Leesburg, Florida, conducted an autopsy on the victim's body on September 9, 1991. (T1092-1095) The body was that of a white female, 5' 8½" tall and weighing 179 pounds. (T1095) The body was clothed in a T-shirt and a pair of shorts and there was a dollar bill and some change in the pocket of the shorts. (T1095)

The victim's hands were tied behind her with an off-white rope which was looped two times around her wrists. (T1095) Dr. Pillow found bruising on the back of the left hand of the victim and also on the left arm close to the area of her elbow. (T1101) These bruises could have been inflicted anywhere from seconds to a few days before the victim's death. (T1103) Dr. Pillow also found bruising on the right upper arm, the front of the right groin, the right thigh, and both lower legs including the ankle areas. Additional bruising was found on the left front thigh and just inside the left breast. (T1103-1104) Dr. Pillow found no evidence of any pre-death abrasions or bruising to the victim's face or mouth. (T1108) Dr. Pillow then examined the bullet wound to the right side of the back of the head. (T1109) The bullet had entered the right side of the back of the brain and traveled into the left half of the brain where it was recovered in the mid-to-lower portion of the left half of the brain. (T1109) This wound resulted in a few skull fractures at the base of the brain and some bleeding around the brain. (T1109) The cause of death was the gunshot wound to the head. (T1113) Dr. Pillow stated that the victim lost consciousness immediately upon being shot. (T1113) Dr. Pillow found no physical indication of forced sexual intercourse. (T1118) Dr. Pillow did note that the victim had a hysterectomy in the past. (T1122) Although the victim's hands had been tied, Dr. Pillow found no bruising on the wrists and no evidence of any struggle. (T1129) Although Dr. Pillow believed that the victim had had sexual intercourse

shortly before her death, this could have occurred within days of her death. (T1137)

John Shearin, the victim's husband, testified that on the night of September 7, 1991, his wife left the house between 7:00 and 8:00 p.m. to take their son to a friend's house where he was going to spend the night. (T1144-1146) When his wife did not return when he expected her, Shearin called the friend's house and spoke to his wife who told him that she was going to go get a snack and then come home. (T1146) Mary arrived home at 3:00 a.m., stayed 15 minutes, and left again. (T1146) Mary did not say where she was going and would not tell John. (T1146) John never saw his wife again. (T1146) On Monday, September 9, 1991, the police came to his house and told him that his wife had been killed. (T1147) Shearin had not reported his wife missing because he thought she might have gone to her mother's house. (T1147) Ever since his wife had had a hysterectomy she was quite moody. (T1147) Prior to the night that Mary left, the last time that John and Mary had sexual intercourse was over a week before. (T1151) John claimed that Mary did not care too much for sex since her hysterectomy. (T1151) Shearin had suspicions about Mary's friends and asked Mary if she had a drug problem, to which Mary replied no. (T1152) When Mary left that morning she was driving a 1986 Cadillac Cimarron, yellow in color with the tag CBB 85N. (T1150)

A BOLO was issued for the victim's vehicle and on the evening of September 9, 1991, Sergeant Lou Potengiano of the

Tampa Police Department observed a vehicle matching the description on the north side of Bexley's BBQ on the corner of 28th Avenue and 22nd Street in Tampa. (T1155) Potengiano observed a man get into the passenger side and then the vehicle pulled out of the parking space into traffic. (T1157) Potengiano followed the vehicle and verified the tag number and radioed for assistance. (T1157) Potengiano finally stopped the vehicle at a well-lit intersection and was assisted by five to ten police cars including a K-9. (T1158) Both men were taken into custody without incident. (T1158) The driver of the automobile gave his name as Ezell Foster and the passenger gave his name as Ansell Rose. (T1159) The vehicle was then secured and held for Hernando County. (T1159) The car was loaded onto a flatbed truck and taken to a police garage where it was then turned over to the custody of Hernando County deputies who transported the vehicle to Hernando County. (T1169,1172)

Deputy Tim Whitfield processed the vehicle and found a .25 caliber Raven Arms firearm with a clip in place under the mat in the front of the car. (T1179-1180) There was a live round in the chamber and two more in the clip. (T1180) Although the firearm was processed for fingerprints, no usable prints were lifted. (T1182-1183) Whitfield found rope in the trunk which was similar to that which was used to tie the victim's hands. (T1183) A woman's shoe was found in the trunk. (T1185) No usable fingerprints were found in the trunk of the car. (T1188) A comparison of the rope found in the trunk of the car to that

found binding the victim's wrists, revealed an exact match. (T1207) No head or pubic hairs from Appellant were found on the victim's clothing or on any items including sweepings from the victim's car. There were caucasian head hairs found in the trunk but these did not match the victim's. (T1226) A negro hair was found in the car which did not match Appellant's or the codefendant's. (T1227)

On September 9, 1991, Kim Coleman was working as a teller at the Tampa Bay Federal Credit Union branch at Buffalo and Nebraska Avenues in Tampa. (T1231) On that date, Ms. Coleman was presented with a check drawn on the account of Mary Shearin and made out to Ezell Foster. (T1231-1234) The check was made out for \$200.00 and Ms. Coleman noted that the canceled check indicated that she received an ID card from Mr. Foster as proof before she cashed the check. (T1240)

Detective Richard Kramer of the Hernando County Sheriff's Department interviewed the man known as Ezell Foster, Jr. (T1244-1246) The interview began at 6:38 a.m. when Kramer told Foster the vehicle he was stopped in was reported stolen and that it belonged to a person who was found murdered in Hernando County. (T1246) Kramer advised Foster of his <u>Miranda</u> rights and determined that Foster understood his rights and agreed to speak. (T1246-1248) Foster advised that the person with whom he was arrested was known to him as Mr. Jim and that he had been driving Mr. Jim around for two days. (T1250) While at Bexley's BBQ, Mr. Jim saw a Tampa police officer and told Foster they had to leave.

(T1250) As they drove, Mr. Jim kept looking back and at an intersection Mr. Jim told Appellant to turn right and keep on going as he had to get something done. (T1250) Mr. Jim handed Foster a towel with something in it. (T1250) Foster was curious and thought that the towel might contain drugs so he opened it up and observed a silver-colored gun. (T1250-1251) Foster picked the gun up and looked at it, put it back in the towel and stuck it between the seats. (T1250) At that point Foster stopped the vehicle and the police arrested him. (T1251) Foster told Kramer that he first met Mr. Jim between 4:00 and 5:00 a.m. on September 8th, as he was walking to Riverview Terrace projects. (T1251) Α vehicle approached Foster and the driver, a white woman, asked Foster if he was holding any crack cocaine. (T1251) Mr. Jim was seated in the front passenger seat. (T1251) Foster told the woman he did not have any crack cocaine but he pointed to an area where she could buy some. (T1252) The lady told Foster that she had tried that area before without success so Foster told her that he knew of another place at Robles Park. (T1252) Foster got in the backseat of the car and directed the woman to Robles Park where she purchased a \$20.00 crack piece. (T1252) The woman was wearing a T-shirt, dark shorts and had dark curly hair. (T1252) After the drug transaction, they drove away and the lady and Mr. Jim got into a verbal argument. (T1252) Mr. Jim wanted to know when the lady was going to leave her husband but the woman said she couldn't. (T1253) Mr. Jim then wanted to know when he would get the money that the woman owed him and the woman

told him she could not afford to pay him. (T1253) Mr. Jim wanted to know if the lady could get if from her husband but the lady said no. (T1253) The woman pulled into a 7-11 and went inside to buy a soda. (T1253) Mr. Jim and the woman had a conversation which Foster could not hear. (T1253) When they returned to the car, the woman asked Foster if he would drive. (T1253) Foster drove the car while the woman and Mr. Jim got into the backseat and smoked the crack cocaine. (T1253-1254) After smoking the crack, Mr. Jim said he was tired of supporting the woman's habit for the last two months and the woman responded that she wouldn't have any habit if it wasn't for Mr. Jim. (T1254) They drove back to the projects and Foster got out. (T1254) The couple left but returned a few minutes later when Mr. Jim asked Foster if he wanted to earn some money by driving the car around for him. (T1254-1255) Foster agreed and Mr. Jim said that they would be back in an hour. (T1255) About two hours later the vehicle returned and only Mr. Jim was in the car. (T1255) Foster got in and asked Mr. Jim why he needed someone to drive to which Mr. Jim responded that he had an expired driver's license. (T1255) Mr. Jim told Foster that he took the woman home and for the rest of the day Foster drove Mr. Jim various places. (T1256) The next day, Monday, Foster picked up Mr. Jim and they drove around smoking crack cocaine. (T1257) Mr. Jim asked Foster if he knew where he could get a check cashed. (T1257) The check which Mr. Jim had was dated and was signed my Mary Strickland. (T1257) Foster told Mr. Jim he could cash the

check if it was made out to him. (T1257) They drove to a bus station in front of the Tampa Bay Credit Union where Foster wrote his name on a piece of paper. (T1258) Mr. Jim took this paper and left for about five minutes and returned with Foster's name on the check. (T1258) Foster went into the bank and cashed the check for \$200.00 and came back and gave the money to Mr. Jim. (T1258) At various times during the evening, Foster again drove Mr. Jim around where they bought crack cocaine and smoked it. (T1258-1260) The final time that Foster hooked up with Mr. Jim was at 2:45 a.m. at the Chicken Bar. (T1260) They then went to Bexley's BBQ where Mr. Jim saw the police officer. (T1260)

The statement given to Detective Kramer lasted approximately two hours and midway through, Foster told Kramer that his real name was Alfred Lewis Fennie. (T1260) Appellant told Kramer that he was sure that Mr. Jim would try to put all the blame on him since all the evidence seemed to point to Appellant. (T1263) Appellant stated that he did not kill the woman. (T1263)

The man whom Appellant described as Mr. Jim, was identified as Ansell Rose. (T1313,1262,1275) Rose testified that he happened to be with Appellant at the time of the arrest because he had been at Bexley's BBQ looking for a ride home. (T1278) When Rose approached Appellant and asked for a ride, Appellant agreed even though he had never seen Appellant before. (T1280) Rose wanted to go to Chelsea Street but when Appellant got to that street he drove past. (T1283) Rose reminded

Appellant of where he wanted to go and when they got to the intersection of 22nd Street and Osborne Avenue, Rose told Appellant to turn right so that they could double back to Chelsea. (T1283) Once again Appellant ignored Rose's directions. (T1283) When the car suddenly got brighter, Rose turned to look behind at which point Appellant said "Don't look back." (T1284) Rose got suspicious and asked why but Appellant responded "Just don't." (T1284) At the intersection of 22nd Street and Hillsborough Avenue, Appellant turned left, took a small gun from behind him, and put it on the floor. (T1285) When they got to Nebraska Avenue, the police ordered them to stop and get out of the car. (T1287) As they got out of the car, Appellant tried to push the gun under the mat on the floor. Rose told the police officers of his activities that (T1288) weekend and after verifying that Rose's story was true, he was released. (T1313 - 1314)

Detective James Noblitt of the Tampa Police Department, met with Appellant and told him he thought he was lying about Mr. Jim. (T1315-1316) Appellant told Noblitt that the evidence made it look like he was involved in this crime but that he did not kill any woman. (T1316) Appellant told Noblitt he knew who killed the woman but it would do him no good to tell since the evidence did point to him as the culprit. (T1316) Eventually Appellant agreed to tell Noblitt what occurred. (T1321) Appellant stated that at approximately 4:00 a.m. Sunday morning a vehicle approached him which was driven by a white woman and had

a black male in the passenger seat. (T1323) The black male was known to Appellant only by the name of Eric. (T1322) This man was approximately 23 years of age, light skinned, and had gold teeth. (T1322) The man was 5' 10" tall and weighed about 190 (T1322) Eric wore a necklace with a medallion that had pounds. the name Eric on it and another necklace with an Egyptian head on it. (T1322) When the vehicle approached Appellant, the woman asked to buy some rock cocaine. (T1323) Appellant got into the backseat and directed the woman to an area where she bought some rock. (T1323) They then began to smoke the cocaine and eventually Eric left the car. (T1323) At this point Appellant and the woman had consensual sexual intercourse. (T1323) When Eric returned he became very angry. (T1324) Appellant began driving the car while Eric and the woman were in the backseat. (T1324) Eric and the woman got into a physical altercation so Appellant stopped the car and got out. (T1324) Eric and the woman left and returned about an hour later. (T1324) Upon their return, Appellant again entered the car in the driver's seat. (T1324) Eric told Appellant to take the interstate north out of (T1324) While Appellant was driving, Eric and the woman Tampa. got in a big argument over \$700.00 which Eric told the woman she owed him for cocaine he had bought for her. (T1324) Eric began punching the woman so Appellant pulled over to the side of the road and told Eric to stop hurting her. (T1325) The woman yelled to Appellant to please not let Eric kill her. (T1325)Appellant continued north on I-275 while Eric and the woman

continued fighting. (T1325) When he reached the exit for State Road 50, Appellant pulled off the interstate and the woman attempted to jump out of the car. (T1325) Eric prevented the woman from getting out and pulled out a chrome handgun, pointed it at both the woman and Appellant and ordered Appellant to keep driving. (T1325) Appellant had noticed some concrete blocks in the backseat. (T1326) When Eric ordered Appellant to stop in the parking lot of a furniture store, he directed Appellant to take the blocks out of the car. (T1327) After Appellant finished unloading the blocks, he noticed that Eric had tied the woman's hands behind her. (T1327) Appellant drove on State Road 301 to a Circle K convenience store where he got out. (T1327) Eric drove away with the woman lying in the backseat. (T1327) Appellant went into the store and asked the clerk where the Sun Bank was and also asked for a bus schedule. (T1327)

About fifteen minutes later, Eric drove back to the store without the woman. (T1328) Appellant got in the car and they drove on Highway 50 back to the interstate. (T1328) They passed a police officer in a parking lot of a Sun Bank and then got on the interstate south towards Tampa. (T1328) Eric wanted something to eat so they stopped at the Stuckey's where Eric got into an argument with the waitress over the size of the orange juice he had ordered. (T1328) They returned to Tampa about 9:30 a.m. and took the car to an auto detailing shop to have it cleaned. (T1328) Then they drove to a Pamela Colbert's house. (T1328) Colbert is Appellant's girlfriend. (T1328) Appellant

then stated that he cashed a check on Monday because he needed money. (T1329) Although Appellant said he did not see Eric kill the woman, he stated that he (Appellant) did not kill anyone. (T1329)

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