15IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA $^{\mu}FILEL$

SID J. WHITE

NOV 12 1993

ALFRED LEWIS FENNIE,

Appellant,

By Chief Deputy Clerk

v.

CASE NO. 80,923

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR HERNANDO COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARGENE A. ROPER
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FL. BAR. #302015
210 N. Palmetto Avenue
Suite 447
Daytona Beach, Florida 32114
(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

- The trial court did not palpably abuse its discretion in I. denying a defense requested continuance where there was the motion was made in good faith, counsel had certification previous statements of the witness and knew what he would testify to at trial, was provided all relevant documents, deposed the witness, and had sufficient time for investigation and never Testimony concerning the fact that the renewed the motion. victim may have used a wrench to pry her fingers through the trunk was cumulative to information the defense already had as the defense knew the victim had stuck her fingers through the trunk and the defense was not hampered in its case by this new implication. Counsel adequately cross-examined the witness. Any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.
- II. The trial court properly denied Fennie's request to be present during the deposition of Michael Frazier as no good cause for being present was demonstrated. Counsel had videotaped Frazier's trial, received his statements in discovery, had adequate time to prepare, and appellant has failed to show how his defense was in any way hampered by his not being present at the deposition.
- III. The claim that the HAC jury instruction fails to limit the jury's discretion is waived by virtue of the defense asking for an almost identical instruction; the instruction approved in *Proffitt v. Florida*, 428 U.S. 242 (1976), was given; there was no error in giving further inapplicable instructions suggested by the defense; any error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. No

objection was made that the CCP instruction was vague and such claim is barred. Such instruction stands under an *Arave v. Creech*, 113 S.Ct. 1534 (1993), analysis. Any error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

- IV. The statutory aggravating factor of an especially heinous, atrocious or cruel murder is not unconstitutionally vague. This court has applied consistent limiting constructions.
- V. The CCP aggravating factor is not unconstitutionally vague or overbroad; this court has applied consistent, limiting constructions.
- VI. The prosecutor did not comment on Fennie's failure to testify but only commented as to the basis of the jury's life recommendation for Frazier, which involved Frazier's testimony.
- VII. The avoiding arrest aggravator was properly applied as the dominant motive for the murder was witness elimination, not anger at the victim for giving incorrect ATM numbers. Fennie coldly, calculatedly and premeditatedly planned her murder after he realized she had seen his face and could identify him. The CCP factor is, thus, also appropriately present. The murder of Mary was conscienceless, pitiless and unnecessarily torturous as she was robbed, abducted, raped, and then suffered stark terror in learning she was ultimately to be killed by being thrown in the water with cement blocks tied to her legs. Even if the court should strike any aggravators, in view of the weak mitigators, death remains the appropriate sentence.
- VIII. Appellant has not preserved his claims on appeal by simply reciting the claims themselves and failing to present argument.

The remaining automatic aggravator claim is before the United States Supreme Court. Potential jurors opposed to the death penalty may be excluded for cause.

I THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT PALPABLY ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING A CONTINUANCE.

The record reflects that defense counsel was advised at 4:08 p.m. the day before jury selection began that Michael Frazier was to be a state's witness against Fennie (R 15; 278). No formal written motion for a continuance with a certificate that it was filed in good faith appears in the record. Defense counsel's office had previously videotaped Frazier's trial (R 17, 25), which would indicate that there was some expectation that Frazier would possibly become a witness. The case had been continued some number of times and the defense had waived speedy trial (R 56; 60; 63; 142; 155; 163). Where a continuance has once been granted there is less excuse for a party not being ready for trial. Ahren v. Willis, 6 Fla. 359 (1855). The defense had all of the statements Frazier gave to the police (R 25), and a recorded statement taken from Frazier by the state the night before was provided to defense counsel (R 20; 1635). Counsel was to be assisted in whatever he needed in the way of witnesses (R The defense was provided a hard copy of the transcript of 20). Frazier's testimony (R 22; 1635). Counsel was already prepared enough at that point to recall that on cross-examination of Frazier his lie about the bite mark on his hand was brought out, which differed from his previous statements. The court indicated it would instanter provide a subpoena for Regina Rogers, who did appear at trial (R 21; 1681). Frazier's letters to Rogers were turned over to the defense. The court would direct any witnesses the defense wanted to be present (R 23). All witnesses who could

have impeaching information were already made available to the defense during discovery (R 41). Ansell Rose was to be made available to the defense at its convenience (R 44). The defense was given copies of all the certified judgments and sentences on Frazier (R 26). The defense could not say that it had no knowledge Frazier was involved or did not know the extent of his involvement based on the reports and his taped statement (R 31). Counsel really appeared only to be complaining about having to alter his trial strategy (R 31). Where testimony could have been reasonably anticipated a continuance is not warranted. Moore v. State, 59 Fla. 23, 52 So. 971 (1910). Seven days were available to the defense before it was even time to put on its case (R 1627).

The trial judge found that the defense was not surprised or adversely affected in their ability to prepare for trial since Frazier, from the very beginning, has been a co-defendant, and his involvement and knowledge in the case had been known to the defense through police reports, depositions, the actual trial testimony and the recorded statements Frazier gave (R 32). Frazier was made available to the defense for deposition (R 1635). In Diaz v. State, 513 So. 2d 1045 (Fla. 1987), this court held in similar robbery, kidnapping and murder case that the trial court had not abused its discretion in denying a continuance a week before trial where defense counsel was immediately able to depose the inmate to be called despite a claim of insufficient time to discuss the statement with the attorney. The court in this case further indicated that it would

reconsider the motion to continue if at any time it appeared that the defense was unable to procure a witness or was unable to secure documents for purposes of impeachment of Frazier's testimony (R 33). The defense did not thereafter request a continuance on the ground that it was unprepared to attack the testimony of Michael Frazier, or that it was unable to get information from the officer Frazier spoke to or could not subpoena witnesses for impeachment purposes.

The record in the case reveals that counsel was fully able to cross examine Frazier as to his agreement with the state, the circumstances of the crime, and any inconsistency in statements (R 1506-1558). Tampa officer John Preyer was cross-examined as to a prior battery complaint involving Frazier and Regina Rogers and brought out the fact Frazier had hit her (R 1437). It was brought out that upon his arrest Frazier had a bite mark he was trying to hide on his hand (R 1432-35). It was also brought out that Frazier initially lied and said he knew nothing about the murder and said his cousin's child had bitten him (R 1502). was also brought out that Frazier sold cocaine and would jump into people's cars, get money and leave, never giving them the cocaine (R 1511). It was also brought out that Frazier had been convicted of first degree murder, armed kidnapping and armed robbery and the state had agreed not to seek the death penalty or sentencing under the habitual offender statute (R 1463-69). Frazier also admitted he had never known Fennie to be violent. Appellee would submit that by not again formally requesting a continuance or bringing any problems to the attention of the

trial court the appellant has waived the right to complain that he was hampered by the trial court's failure to initially grant a continuance. An error committed by the trial court relative to a continuance will not be reviewed unless the issue was properly raised at trial. Reynolds v. Smith, 49 Fla. 217, 38 So. 903 (1905). It is clear that the defense was not prejudiced by late notice that Michael Frazier would be a witness against Fennie. Fennie's various versions of the incident Frazier would have to have been investigated by the defense as the scapegoat triggerman, in any event, which is borne out by the videotaping of Frazier's testimony and the facts brought out at this trial. As was the case in $Bouie \ v. \ State$, 539 So. 2d 1113 (Fla. 1990), where the defendant confessed to a cellmate on the second day of jury selection, no undue prejudice has been shown where counsel was able to depose the witness. Further complaints were not made. The record reflects that counsel performed more than eliciting beneficial adequately in information that was available.

No palpable abuse of judicial discretion is clearly and affirmatively shown by the record. See, Waldron v. State, 41 Fla. 263, 26 So. 701 (1899); Magill v. State, 386 So. 2d 1188 (Fla. 1980). If there was any initial error, it was cured by making Frazier available for deposition, providing the defense with requested documents, counsel's failure to complain after such remedial measures were taken and his adequate performance at trial. Jerry v. State, 99 Fla. 1330, 128 So. 807 (1930). Any error was harmless. Dupree v. State, 125 Fla. 58, 169 So. 600 (1936).

The defense took the deposition of Michael Frazier on Saturday, November 7, 1992. Prior to that it had all of his statements and trial testimony. The state had previously asked technician Gary Kimble to get into the trunk of the victim's car and see if he could get his fingers out. He was able to get them out near the glass at the back edge where the trunk closes (R 1560). The defense was informed of that at Frazier's deposition (R 1561). The defense had previously inspected the trunk. Defense counsel indicated that he had not seen damage where Frazier later indicated (R 1562). At the deposition the parties learned exactly where on the trunk the victim's hand came out (R The prosecutor indicated "it was never clear exactly where until he -- I could sit him down, myself, and have him draw a picture where on the trunk the fingers came out, on Saturday." (R 1629). Frazier made a drawing that was attached to the deposition (R 1565). The state then asked Kimble to go back with a tool and see if he could get his fingers out of the trunk at the place Frazier described seeing them. Kimble did so and was able to get his fingers out. Kimble was also asked to see if he could engage in conversation with someone in the passenger area of the car while he was in the trunk and Kimble was able to. The state provided this information to the defense during the trial on November 11, 1992 (R 1561). Defense counsel moved in limine to preclude introduction of such testimony. The state indicated that the testimony did not have to come in through Kimble at that point in time but that Kimble could first be made available for the defense to talk to and the car could be

inspected at the impound that evening (R 1564). The court indicated that it would direct the court reporter to remain so defense counsel could take Kimble's deposition at five o'clock. The state agreed and indicated that if defense counsel wanted to look at the trunk of the car they could do it that evening (R The court then indicated "It might very well be that we're worried about an issue that's not going to surface if Mr. Fanter has acceding to take -- to discuss Mr. Kimble's testimony (R 1565). Defense counsel made no further argument or motions. The next morning, November 12, 1992, the defense moved for a continuance, based on Kimble's deposition, to get their own independent expert to examine the vehicle and to conduct scientific tests (R 1627). The court noted and the state acknowledged that it would not be calling an expert but that Officer Kimble would be testifying that he rattled the trunk and managed to get his hand out. The defense indicated that it wanted an expert to examine the pry mark identification and have independent person see what they could do in the same The court asked defense counsel what situation (R 1628). precluded him from doing this some time ago even though the state has been slow in developing this based on their representation that Frazier's testimony precipitated their inquiry (R 1628). Defense counsel indicated that Frazier said something in his original statement about the fingers, which is "something Mr. Tatti had been bantering about since the first day this case The state pointed out that the issue of the fingers coming out someplace on the trunk has been there since the trial

started and defense counsel has had the opportunity to examine the trunk (R 1629). The court recalled that back in pre-trials there were special requests to transport the defendant to Polk County (R 1629). The defense acknowledged that a possible inference from the medical examiner's testimony was that the trunk lid had been closed on her fingers after she was deceased The defense then indicated that when they inspected (R 1630). the vehicle the pry evidence was not readily apparent and would not have put them on notice to look for something else. The court then asked "Do you have a witness then to offer testimony to that effect, that we can all look at from there?" The defense indicated it would bring Mr. Franklin in to testify. judge indicated counsel had every right to do that and that the issue had been readily developed by the defense and there was no basis for a continuance (R 1630). The defense responded that Mr. Kimble had removed a gasket whereas the defense didn't have the ability to remove things and physically alter the vehicle. trial judge pointed out that he had been very liberal in granting requests to aid the pre-trial discovery process (R 1631). state pointed out that it had asked defense counsel last night if he wanted to go look at the car and the mark and defense counsel declined, indicating that he wanted to see it in the daylight (R 1633). Defense counsel indicated that when he viewed the vehicle he wasn't advised there was any mark and didn't learn of it until after the deposition (R 1633). The court indicated that based on these new issues a Richardson v. State, 246 So. 2d 771 (Fla. 1971), hearing was necessary (R 1634). The court found as a matter of

law that the state had not withheld any information and that information was given to the defense as soon as it became available (R 1634). It was determined that this was not an The court also found that intentional or willful violation. is some material relevance to this newly discovered evidence that would relate to the testimony that has been offered and bolster the state's case to a certain degree and that the evidence was substantial. Frazier's last recorded statement in which he indicated that the hand was out of the trunk on the interstate, precipitating them pulling over was made available to the defendant within twenty days of his arrest (R 1636). Colbert said the same thing in her interview and those transcripts were given to defense counsel in October (R 1637). Defense counsel approached the bench to point out facets of the picture not readily available on inspection (R 1637). The court indicated that it saw a ripple in the photo depicting the car as the way the defense saw it when they looked at it (R 1639). The court determined that this was an issue put before the defense early on and there was no need or justification for a continuance. defense pointed out the state would have been on the same notice thirteen months ago to have done the same thing the prosecutor did last night (R 1640). The court indicated that the only issue before it was to make a Richardson determination. It then determined that the issue in evidence was equally available to both sides and that there was no evidence that the defense has been substantially prejudiced in the preparation of its defense (R 1641). The court found pursuant to Richardson that there was no

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